
 
 
Democratic Services Section    
Legal and Civic Services Department 
Belfast City Council 
City Hall 
Belfast  
BT1 5GS 
 
 
9th January, 2026 
 
 
MEETING OF THE CITY GROWTH AND REGENERATION COMMITTEE 
 
 

Dear Alderman/Councillor, 

 

The above-named Committee will meet in the Lavery Room, City Hall, and remotely via 

MS Teams on Wednesday, 14th January, 2026 at 5.15 pm, for the transaction of the 

business noted below. 

 

You are requested to attend. 

 
Yours faithfully, 
 
 
John Walsh 
 
Chief Executive 
 
 
 
AGENDA: 
 
1. Routine Matters   
 
 (a) Apologies   

 
 (b) Minutes   

 
 (c) Declarations of Interest   

 
2. Restricted Items   
 
 (a) Future City Centre Vacancy Programme (Pages 1 - 18) 

 
 (b) Local Growth Fund Update (Pages 19 - 22) 

 
3. Request to Present   
 
 (a) Belfast One BID (Pages 23 - 26) 

 
4. Regenerating Places and Improving Infrastructure   
 
 (a) Department for Infrastructure Correspondence - Belfast Cycle Network 

Ravenhill Road Scheme (Pages 27 - 30) 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 
- 2 - 

5. Positioning Belfast to Compete   
 
 (a) Events Update (report to follow)   

 
6. Strategic and Operational Issues   
 
 (a) Department for Communities Consultation on Disability and Work: A Strategy 

for Northern Ireland - Council Response (Pages 31 - 44) 
 

 (b) Minutes of the Zoo Long-Term Financial Sustainability Group - 10th 
December 2025 (Pages 45 - 46) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Document is Restricted

Page 1

Agenda Item 2a
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 13

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 19

Agenda Item 2b
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

CITY GROWTH AND REGENERATION COMMITTEE  

 

 

 
Subject: Belfast One BID – request for presentation 

Date: 
 
14 January 2026 

 
Reporting Officer: 

 
Keith Forster, Director of Economic Development 

 
Contact Officer: Lisa Toland, Senior Manager, Economy 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

Please indicate the description, as listed in Schedule 6, of the exempt information by virtue of 
which the council has deemed this report restricted. 

 

Insert number  

 

1. Information relating to any individual 

2. Information likely to reveal the identity of an individual 

3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 
council holding that information) 

4. Information in connection with any labour relations matter 

5. Information in relation to which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained 

6. Information showing that the council proposes to (a) to give a notice imposing restrictions on a 
person; or (b) to make an order or direction 

7. Information on any action in relation to the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime 

 

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  X  
 

 

 

 

  

 

X 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 3a



 
1.0 Purpose of Report / Summary of Main Issues 

 

1.1 

 

 

The purpose of the report is to: 

 Update members on the pending ballot for the third term of the Belfast One BID 

(Business Improvement District) 

 Request that members agree to receive a presentation from the BID at the February 

meeting of this Committee in order to enable officers to submit the Council votes in 

the ballot ahead of the 5 March 2026 deadline.   

 

2.0 Recommendations 
 

2.1 Members are asked to: 

 Note the update on the pending ballot for the third term of the Belfast One BID 

(Business Improvement District) 

 Agree to receive a presentation from the BID at the February meeting of this 

Committee in order to enable officers to submit the Council votes in the ballot ahead 

of the 5 March 2026 deadline.  

 

3.0 Main report 
 

3.1 Members will be aware that there are three Business Improvement Districts (BIDs) in Belfast 

city centre: BID One which covers the main retail core and runs from the City Hall down to 

the junction of Royal Avenue and North Street; Linen Quarter which covers the office district 

to the north the City Hall including the new Transport Hub and Destination CQ which covers 

the Cathedral Quarter including the Ulster University campus.   

  

3.2 A BID is a defined district where organisations collectively invest in projects, services and 

events that will benefit that area.  BID One is an independent, not-for-profit company that 

works on behalf of its levy payers to support, develop and promote Belfast city centre.  It 

focuses on delivering programmes that enhance safety, cleanliness, business support and 

the overall vibrancy of the area.   

 

3.3 Under government legislation, all BIDs operate on a five-year term.  At the end of each term, 

a ballot must take place in order for the BID to continue its work.  BID One is the longest 

standing of the three BIDs and began operations in April 2016. The ballot for the third term 

of BID One will open on 22 January 2026 and all votes must be submitted by 5 March 2026. 

   

Page 24



3.4 Belfast City Council has a number of properties within the BID One boundary including City 

Hall and 2 Royal Avenue.  The BID One area contains around 700 units that are eligible for 

votes.  Each property must pay an annual mandatory BID levy – depending on the NAV (Net 

Annual Value) of the property.  Belfast City Council is responsible (by legislation) for issuing 

the levy bills (the cost of this service is covered by the BID).   

 

3.5 In order for the proposal to be successful at ballot, the result will need to meet, as a minimum, 

three independent criteria, namely: 

1. There must be more yes votes than no votes (volume)  

2. Total rateable value of yes votes must exceed total rateable value of no votes (value) 

3. The turnout of ballot papers returned must be no less than 25% of the eligible rate 

payers entitled to vote in the ballot and total no less than 25% of the eligible rateable 

value. 

 

3.6 BID One works closely with the council on a range of issues related to safety, cleanliness 

and vibrancy in the city centre.  The team and the Board are also represented on a number 

of city centre forums and working groups and, given their mandate, represent a strong 

conduit for engagement with city centre businesses operating in this geographical area.   

They have produced a business plan for the five year term and this proposes focusing 

resources on four main areas of work, namely: 

 Promoting Belfast city centre 

 Enhancing the visitor experience 

 Supporting local businesses 

 Shaping a better city centre.   

 

3.7 The draft business plan notes that the BID is likely to generate just slightly over £1million 

annually through its levy collection and it will use these resources to deliver projects on behalf 

of levy payers within these agreed priority areas for action. Details of planned activities will 

be shared by the team at the upcoming meeting.   

 

4.0 Financial Implications 

 

 

Belfast City Council will be liable for levy payments relating to its properties and assets 

located within the BID One boundary. 

 

5.0 Equality or Good Relations Implications / Rural Needs Assessment 

Page 25



 No specific equality or good relations implications.  The Belfast One designated boundary 

has been approved by DfC.  Visitor insights demonstrate that the city centre is accessed by 

visitors from all parts of Northern Ireland and beyond. 

 

6.0 Appendices  

  None. 

 
 

Page 26



 

CITY GROWTH & REGENERATION COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

Subject: Belfast Cycle Network’s Ravenhill Road Scheme – Department for 

Infrastructure Response 

 

Date: 9th January, 2026 

 

Reporting Officer: Cathy Reynolds, Director of City Regeneration and Development 

 

Contact Officer: Craig Mealey, Committee Services Officer 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No 
 

 

Please indicate the description, as listed in Schedule 6, of the exempt information by virtue of 
which the council has deemed this report restricted. 

 

Insert number  

 

1. Information relating to any individual 

2. Information likely to reveal the identity of an individual 

3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 
council holding that information) 

4. Information in connection with any labour relations matter 

5. Information in relation to which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained 

6. Information showing that the council proposes to (a) to give a notice imposing restrictions on a 
person; or (b) to make an order or direction 

7. Information on any action in relation to the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime 

 

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

     

 

Call-in     

 

Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                              
Yes  No  

 

X  

 

 

 

 

 

X 
 

 

Page 27

Agenda Item 4a



1.0 Purpose of Report/Summary of Main Issues 

1.1 To update Members on a response received from the Department for Infrastructure to 

correspondence from the Committee in relation to the Belfast Cycle Network’s Ravenhill Road 

Scheme. 

   

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 The Committee is asked to note the response received from the Department for Infrastructure. 

 

3.0 Main Report 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
 
 
3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.4 
 

 

 

3.5 

At the City Growth and Regeneration Committee meeting in October 2025, Councillor de 

Faoite raised an issue in advance in relation to the delivery of the Belfast Cycle Network’s 

Ravenhill Road Scheme. He stated that, in response to a letter he had written to the Minister 

for Infrastructure regarding the scheme, the Minister had advised that the formal consultation 

stage on the scheme had been moved from autumn 2025 to early 2026. He expressed his 

disappointment at the delay in progressing the scheme, given that it had been highlighted as 

deliverable in the short term within the Department for Infrastructure’s Belfast Cycle Network 

Delivery Plan. 

 

At the request of Councillor de Faoite, the Committee agreed to write to the Minister for 

Infrastructure to express its frustration at the lack of progress in delivering the Belfast Cycle 

Network’s Ravenhill Road Scheme, and to seek an update on the reasons for the delay 

 

A response has now been received from the Department for Infrastructure (Appendix 1) which 

advises that the extent of the scheme has been amended to include a section of the Ormeau 

Embankment, and that further consideration has been given to certain elements of design 

along the route that emerged following the initial public engagement on the proposals. The 

response states that these considerations have resulted in a longer than originally anticipated 

design period, and that the statutory consultation process is expected to commence early this 

year, subject to the satisfactory conclusion of discussions on a small number of remaining 

issues. 

 
Financial and Resource Implications 

None associated with this report. 

 
Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

None associated with this report. 

 

4.0 Appendices - Document Attached 

 Appendix 1 – Department for Infrastructure Response – Belfast Cycle Network Ravenhill Road 

Scheme 

 

Page 28



 

 

From the office of the Minister for Infrastructure 

LIZ KIMMINS MLA 

 

 

 
Craig Mealey 
Committee Services Officer 
Belfast City Council  
mealeyc@belfastcity.gov.uk 
 

 
 
Private Office 
3rd Floor, James House 
Gasworks Site 
2 - 4 Cromac Street 
Belfast 
BT7 2JA 
Telephone: (028) 9054 0540 
Email: Private.office@infrastructure-ni.gov.uk  
 
Your reference: CGR241125DFI 
Our reference: COR-1047-2025 
 11 December 2025  

 

 

Dear Craig 

BELFAST CYCLE NETWORK – RAVENHILL ROAD SCHEME 

Thank you for your correspondence of 24 November 2025, in relation to the 
above. As part of the detailed design process, the extent of the scheme has 
been amended, to include a section of Ormeau Embankment and further 
consideration has been given to certain elements of design along the route that 
emerged following initial public engagement on the proposals. These 
considerations have resulted in a longer than originally anticipated design 
period. 

It is expected that the statutory consultation process will commence in early 
2026, subject to the satisfactory conclusion of discussions on a small number of 
remaining issues. 

Yours sincerely 

 

JAMES GRAHAM 
Private Secretary to the Minister 

Page 29

mailto:mealeyc@belfastcity.gov.uk
mailto:Private.office@infrastructure-ni.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
CITY GROWTH AND REGENERATION COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
 

Subject: DfC Disability and Work Strategy – Consultation Response 

Date: 14 January 2026 

Reporting Officer: Damien Martin, Strategic Director of Place and Economy 

Contact Officer: 
Jamie Uprichard, Business Research and Development Manager, 
Jelena Buick, Business Research and Development Officer 

 
 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No X 

Please indicate the description, as listed in Schedule 6, of the exempt information by virtue of 
which the council has deemed this report restricted. 

 

Insert number  

 

1. Information relating to any individual 

2. Information likely to reveal the identity of an individual 

3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 
council holding that information) 

4. Information in connection with any labour relations matter 

5. Information in relation to which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained 

6. Information showing that the council proposes to (a) to give a notice imposing restrictions on a 
person; or (b) to make an order or direction 

7. Information on any action in relation to the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime 

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

     
 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes X No  

 
 
 

Page 31

Agenda Item 6a



1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the Department for Communities’ 

(DfC) draft Disability and Work Strategy for Northern Ireland and seek agreement on a 

Council response to the public consultation.  

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 It is recommended that the Committee: 

 Notes the main highlights of the DfC Disability and Work Strategy; and  

 Approve the consultation response, attached at appendix 1 (subject to council 

ratification). 

3.0 Main report 

3.1 

 

 

Disability and Work: A Strategy for Northern Ireland sets out the Department for Communities’ 

(DfC) commitment to achieve better employment outcomes for disabled people, people with 

health conditions, and people who are neurodivergent. 

 

The 2023/24 employment rate for disabled people (43.4%) was approximately half the 

employment rate for people without disabilities (83.7%). The difference between these two 

rates is known as the “disability employment gap”, and in 2023/24, the NI disability 

employment gap was 40.3 percentage points. This is the largest gap of any of the UK nations, 

and despite the number of disabled people in employment here increasing, the gap has 

changed little over the last decade. (Note: the 2024 Labour Force Survey Local Government 

District tables were released released in July 2025 and report a disability employment gap of 

48.8pp in Belfast).  

 

The key outcome of the Strategy is to get an additional 50,000 disabled people into work by 

March 2036, and to achieve a disability employment rate of 50% and growing.  The Strategy 

also aims to get more disabled people into better jobs, helping to reduce the disability pay gap; 

reduce underemployment; and support more disabled people into self-employment. 

 

The Strategy is aimed at supporting people in Northern Ireland to prepare for work, obtain 

work, remain in work, and progress in work. It aims to support people who are: 

 deaf or disabled, and/or 

 have health conditions, and/or 

 are neurodivergent. 

 

The Strategy’s scope includes people from the above groups who are: 

 of working age and not currently working, or 

 already in work, or 

 young people who are about to transition out of school, further education, or higher 

education. 

 

The sub-outcomes for the Strategy are: 

 To increase the disability employment rate for all age groups 

 To increase the disability employment rate for males and females 

 To increase the disability employment rate for people with different types of disability 

 To reduce the disability pay gap 

Page 32

https://www.communities-ni.gov.uk/consultations/consultation-disability-and-work-strategy-northern-ireland


 To reduce levels of underemployment of disabled people 

 To increase levels of self-employment for disabled people 

 

The key themes of the strategy are:  

 Personalised support  

 Inclusive Skills, Careers, and Educational Transitions  

 Supporting and Enabling Employers  

 Strategic and Structural Enablers 

 

3.2 Key highlights from the draft BCC response 

While the full response is attached at appendix 1, overall, the council welcomes the Strategy.  

It is a useful starting point in joining-up support to address key challenges in helping disabled 

people into meaningful employment (those who can and want to work). We welcome the 

provisions made for disabled people where they can voluntarily opt in for employment support 

as this approach is proven to be more effective than mandating participation. 

 

While the Council welcomes the Strategy’s themes, guiding principles and outcomes, the 

response states that budget availability against each element of delivery would be beneficial 

to plan ahead for service delivery and workforce planning. We note this consultation is taking 

place while there are severe funding cuts to disability specialist organisations supported 

through the UK Shared Prosperity Fund. Cuts will have a major impact on delivery of the 

Strategy; on disabled people, organisations and staff that deliver much needed employment 

services. 

 

We welcome a flexible and responsive approach, particularly where delivery gaps emerge and 

additional support is required to increase the employment rate for disabled people.  However, 

Belfast may have different needs as a predominately urban area. For example, there are areas 

within Belfast such as Oldpark (18%) and Court (17%) that have male long-term sickness or 

disability rates that are closer to one-fifth of the male population compared against 8% for NI.  

 

Furthermore, the response highlights the imbalance that exists across Northern Ireland council 

areas (evidenced by the 2024 Labour Force Survey Local Government District tables) and 

identifies that the greatest need is within Belfast. The employment rate for disabled people 

ranges from a high of 59.7% in Ards and North Down to a low of 33.4% in Belfast. We therefore 

recommend that the Department consider implementing a sub-regional balance approach, 

tailoring and prioritising actions where the greatest inequalities exist.  

 

3.3 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

Financial & Resource Implications 

There are no financial implications attached to this report. 

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

There are no equality, good relations or rural needs implications contained in this report. 

4.0 Appendices – Documents attached  

 
Appendix 1: DfC Disability and Work Strategy - Belfast City Council Response 

 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Belfast City Council’s Draft Consultation Response to the 

Department for Communities’ Disability and Work Strategy for 

Northern Ireland 
 

Strategy Scope 

The Strategy is aimed at supporting people in Northern Ireland to prepare for work, obtain 

work, remain in work, and progress in work. It aims to support people who are: 

 deaf or disabled, and/or 

 have health conditions, and/or 

 are neurodivergent. 

 

The Strategy’s scope includes people from the above groups who are: 

 of working age and not currently working, or 

 already in work, or 

 young people who are about to transition out of school, further education, or higher 

education. 

 

3a. To what extent do you agree with the scope of the Strategy? 

 Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Disagree Strongly disagree 

 

3b. Please provide us with any comments you have on the scope of the Strategy. 

The council welcomes the scope of the Strategy and the groupings that require assistance.  We 

recognise there are many disability organisations already supporting disabled people to 

prepare, obtain and stay in work.  The council’s approach is to only intervene where there are 

gaps in provision and provide support by working along with delivery partners across the 

city.  Examples of our work include the following: 

 Delivering a Customer Service Employment Academy for people who are deaf (in 

association with AdaptNI) in January 2026.   The academy is a short, intensive week-long 

training programme to help ten participants obtain skills, confidence, and support needed 

for work. 

 Scoping out and developing a bespoke Employment Academy for blind people in association 

with a specialist disability charity.  This predicated on job demand being confirmed with a 

major employer and is in early stages of development. 

 Delivering a Classroom Assistants’ Employment Academy for ten people who are deaf or 

people with hearing loss and are fluent in their primary language – either British Sign 

Language (BSL) or Irish Sign Language (ISL). Training is expected to be completed by June 

2026. It is the first time an Academy in this format has been done in the education sector. 

The people who work using BSL/ISL as their first language.  Participants will complete a 

Level 3 Certificate in Supporting Teaching and Learning in Schools (QCF 5329-31) over 12 

months approximately.  This support will improve participants employability and job 

prospects, provides an introduction to the education sector and as well as insights into 

various job roles.  Participants will receive one-to-one mentoring. 

 

Page 35



Guiding Principles 

The Strategy is built upon six guiding principles which are: 

 Ambitious and inclusive 

 Person-centric 

 Collaborative and joined-up 

 Evidence driven 

 Open, honest and transparent 

 Flexible and responsive 

 

4a. To what extent do you agree with the guiding principles of the Strategy? 

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Disagree Strongly disagree 

 

4b. Please provide us with any comments you have on the guiding principles of the 

Strategy 

While we broadly welcome the six guiding principles, a narrative on budget availability against 

each element of delivery would be beneficial to plan ahead for service delivery and workforce 

planning, if the employment rate for disabled people is to be increased by 50% by 31st March 

2036.  We welcome a flexible and responsive approach, particularly where delivery gaps 

emerge and additional support is required to increase the employment rate for disabled people.  

This will be important at a local delivery level.  For example, Belfast may have different needs 

as a predominately urban area. Research undertaken by the Ulster University Economic Policy 

Centre for Belfast City Council in January 2024 (Economic inactivity draft: Who, what, where, 

why? A briefing paper on economic inactivity & inclusive labour markets in Belfast and Northern 

Ireland) reported: 

 For males across Northern Ireland, the top reason for economic inactivity is long-term sick 
or disability. One in ten Belfast males report long-term sickness or disability, in turn 
accounting for half of the economically inactive male population.  The concentration of long-
term sickness among males in the Belfast area is concerning, specifically given that more 
recent economic inactivity increases at the national level have been associated with ill 
health; 

 There are areas within Belfast such as Oldpark (18%) and Court (17%) that have male long-
term sickness or disability rates that are closer to one-fifth of the male population compared 
to an average of 8% for Northern Ireland; 

 In Belfast, the most predominant reason for economic inactivity among the 50-64 age cohort 
is long-term sickness or disability, reported by half (50%), compared to two in five (41%) 
across Northern Ireland. Current Labour Force Survey data shows this increasing to 58%; 

 When working towards more inclusive labour markets, it will be important for employers to 
have a better understanding of the challenges associated with long-term health conditions 
and the need for flexibility within the workplace; 

 Any progression towards a more inclusive labour market will need to tackle flexibility and 
additional supports that are often cited as being necessary to successfully (re) enter and 
remain in employment.  

 Data from NISRA’s Labour Market Status reports (2023), taken from the Labour Force 
Survey, report the disability employment gap (for people aged 16-64) in Belfast, as 39.6pp. 
This gap has stayed at approximately 40% for the last few years and is significantly above 
the rest of the UK (Maximising potential: A review of labour market outcomes for people with 
disabilities in Northern Ireland, UUEPC, 2022) and requires interventions to redress over 
the long term. 

Page 36



 

Overarching Outcome 

The Strategy’s overarching outcome is: To increase the employment rate for disabled people to 

50% by 31 March 2036. We estimate that this would mean an additional 50,000 disabled people 

or people with health conditions in employment in Northern Ireland by March 2036. 

 

5a. To what extent do you agree with the overarching outcome of the Strategy? 

 Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Disagree Strongly disagree 

 

5b. Please provide us with any comments you have on the overarching outcome of the 

Strategy. 

We welcome the ambition to increase the employment rate for disabled people to 50% by 31 

March 2036. Within the refreshed Belfast Agenda (2024), community planning partners set a 

stretch goal to increase the employment rate for people living with a disability from 37% to 42% 

by 2028 (note the baseline uses figures from 2022). This equates to approximately an additional 

3,000 disabled people living in the city in employment.  

By 2024, the disability employment gap (for people aged 16-64) in Belfast was 48.8pp. (there is 

a 82.2% employment rate for people without a disability compared with 33.4% for people with a 

disability).  There had been a significant reduction in the gap from 49.2pp in 2016, before 

increasing again more recently, however the gap has stayed at approximately 40% for the last 

few years. This is significantly above the rest of the UK and requires interventions to redress 

over the long term. 

The Labour Force Survey Local Government District (LGD) tables for 2024 identify imbalance 

across the region. The employment rate for disabled people ranges from a high of 59.7% in 

Ards and North Down to a low of 33.4% in Belfast. This suggests a sub-regional approach 

should be considered, prioritising interventions in Belfast.  

People with a disability are significantly disadvantaged compared to the rest of the population 

in terms of economic inactivity. It was estimated that over half of the people in Belfast in 2022, 

who were economically inactive, had a disability. In 2023, the economic inactivity rate for people 

with a disability is estimated to be 57.1% compared to 19.2% for those who are economically 

inactive but do not have a disability. 

It is important to understand that the economically inactive cohort does not include people 

“actively seeking work”.  Previous research by UUEPC using data from ONS and NISRA 

reported that 16% of all people in Northern Ireland who are economically inactive due to long-

term sickness or disability who definitely or probably work again. The 2023 Census reported 

that there were 26,781 adults aged 16-64 living in Belfast who were economically inactive due 

to long-term sickness or disability. Extrapolating this data for Belfast, suggests that there may 

be an estimated 4,300 people who are currently workless but may choose to become a 

jobseeker in the future. This is an important group to consider if this target is to be achieved.  

We would welcome further details on the modelling criteria and rationale used to arrive at this 

figure and request if regular breakdowns at local government level can be published routinely 

to aid with resource planning for the city. 

Page 37



Early conversations with all stakeholders regarding data capture including the potential for 

statutory monitoring and reporting would be beneficial.  

 

Sub-outcomes 

The sub-outcomes for the Strategy are: 

 To increase the disability employment rate for all age groups 

 To increase the disability employment rate for males and females 

 To increase the disability employment rate for people with different types of disability 

 To reduce the disability pay gap 

 To reduce levels of underemployment of disabled people 

 To increase levels of self-employment for disabled people 

 

6a. To what extent do you agree with the sub-outcomes of the Strategy? 

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Disagree Strongly disagree 

 

6b. Please provide us with any comments you have on the sub-outcomes of the 

Strategy. 

The Council strongly agrees with sub outcomes as they align with research carried out with 

disability specialist groups via the Belfast Labour Market Partnership and in our day-to-day 

practice in rolling out employment academies. 

However, we would request that statisticians undertake secondary analysis of the available data 

to report baselines of the above indicators at a local government level. Furthermore, updates 

should be routinely published to aid with resource planning for the city. We are aware that issues 

exist due to small sample sizes and disaggregation at a more granular level often risks 

disclosure. Nevertheless, we would propose that this could be overcome by combing multiple 

years’ of data in order to provide councils with vital information for them to plan and track 

performance. 

The Belfast Labour Market Partnership produced People Based research in March 2024 to 

determine gaps and interventions needed to support disabled people in the city into work.  The 

council engaged with 16 organisations, mainly from Disability Specialist groups but including 

the Department for Communities. Research findings broadly concurred with the proposed 

strategy and its proposed actions. Those attending the engagement sessions (mainly disability 

representative organisations) told us that: 

 Employers lacked knowledge and understanding about disability and needed support in this 

area; 

 Disabled people feared benefit loss where employment is taken up and associated risks 

(including cases where household income is affected).  The need to protect benefits for 

disabled employees was frequently referenced;  

 Many disabled people require significant pre-entry support to obtain and sustain 

employment; 

 Mental health challenges were exacerbated because of the pandemic; 

 Many individuals need significant pre-entry employment support before engaging with a 

service, let alone employment.  The significant disconnect between the proportion of non-

disabled people with no qualifications but who are still in employment, compared to the 

Page 38



equivalent for disabled people is stark and is considered a key barrier. Support to achieve 

entry level qualifications was identified as a potential area of focus;  

 Practical issues such as securing reliable transport to work was raised consistently by 

contributors. Many people with physical disabilities may need support in arriving and leaving 

work or interviews for jobs, through means such as a friend or family member, public 

transport, or taxi services. This can be quite difficult to repeatedly obtain; 

 There is a need to raise awareness of the availability of employment services – both for 

employers and disabled people; 

 There are not enough highlighted examples of success and good practice to stimulate and 
motivate disabled people to follow a rewarding career path;  

 There is a need for more accessible communication, outreach and partnership with schools, 
health and social care teams; 

 A need to raise the aspirations of disabled people and importantly, their family members and 
to promote the prospect of work as a valid and achievable outcome; 

 There is a lack of promotion of good workplace practice, highlighting positive examples 
locally, regionally, and internationally and sharing those across the sector could stimulate 
greater engagement from disabled people and employers; 

 Their top three recommendations were: an awareness raising initiative for employers to 
include employment laws and to boost their confidence in supporting disabled employees 
into work, helping disability specialist groups better realise their Social Value offer and the 
development of a Disability Employment Initiative.  DfC will be aware of the council’s work 
in each of these areas. 

 
This suggests that further qualitative research may be necessary in order to develop 
understanding if the sub-outcomes are to be delivered. 
 

Key Themes 

The key themes of the Strategy are: 

 Personalised Support  

 Inclusive Skills, Careers and Educational Transitions  

 Supporting and Enabling Employers  

 Strategic and Structural Enablers  

 

7a. To what extent do you agree with the key themes of the Strategy (summarized on 

pages 19 to 27)? 

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Disagree Strongly disagree 

 

7b. Please provide us with any comments you have on the key themes of the Strategy. 

The Council strongly agrees with the key themes as they align with research undertaken by the 

Belfast Labour Market Partnership (in conjunction with specialist disability groups) and in our 

day-to-day practice in rolling out employment academies.  In March 2024, the Belfast Labour 

Market Partnership produced People Based research to determine gaps and interventions 

needed to support disabled people in the city into work.  The council engaged with 16 

organisations, mainly from Disability Specialist groups and including the Department for 

Communities.  The research findings broadly concurred with the strategy and its proposed 

actions.  Those who attended engagement sessions (mainly disability representative 

organisations) told us that: 

Page 39



 Employers lacked knowledge and understanding about disability and needed support in this 

area; 

 Disabled people feared benefit loss where employment is taken up and associated risks 

(including cases where household income is affected).  The need to protect benefits for 

disabled employees was frequently referenced;   

 Many disabled people require significant pre-entry support to obtain and sustain 

employment; 

 Mental health challenges were exacerbated because of the pandemic; 

 Many individuals need significant pre-entry employment support before engaging with a 

service, let alone employment.  The significant disconnect between the proportion of non-

disabled people with no qualifications but who are still in employment, compared to the 

equivalent for disabled people is stark and is considered a key barrier. Support to achieve 

entry level qualifications was identified as a potential area of focus;  

 Practical issues such as securing reliable transport to work was raised consistently by 

contributors. Many people with physical disabilities may need support in arriving and leaving 

work or interviews for jobs, through means such as a friend or family member, public 

transport, or taxi services. This can be quite difficult to repeatedly obtain; 

 There is a need to raise awareness of the availability of employment services – both for 

employers and disabled people; 

 There are not enough highlighted examples of success and good practice to stimulate and 
motivate disabled people to follow a rewarding career path;  

 There is a need for more accessible communication, outreach and partnership with schools, 
health and social care teams; 

 A need to raise the aspirations of disabled people and importantly, their family members and 
to promote the prospect of work as a valid and achievable outcome; 

 There is a lack of promotion of good workplace practice, highlighting positive examples 
locally, regionally, and internationally and sharing those across the sector could stimulate 
greater engagement from disabled people and employers; 

 Their top three recommendations were: an awareness raising initiative for employers to 
include employment laws and to boost their confidence in supporting disabled employees 
into work, helping disability specialist groups better realise their Social Value offer and the 
development of a Disability Employment Initiative.  DfC will be aware of the council’s work 
in each of these areas. 

 

The Strategy’s Actions 

The proposed actions in the Strategy are summarized on pages 19 to 27 of the document 

under the themes of: 

 Personalised Support 

 Inclusive Skills, Careers, and Educational Transitions 

 Supporting and Enabling Employers 

 Strategic and Structural Enablers 

 

8. Please provide any comments on these actions in the box below. 

Evidence from the 2024 Labour Force Survey Local Government District (LGD) tables identify 

imbalance across the region. The employment rate for disabled people ranges from a high of 

59.7% in Ards and North Down to a low of 33.4% in Belfast. This suggests a sub-regional 

approach should be considered, tailoring and prioritising actions within Belfast.  

Page 40



Nevertheless, the council broadly welcomes all of the actions included in the draft. In 

particular,  

 The council welcomes the action to develop a new Employer Engagement Strategy their 

exploration (with the Department for the Economy) of developing a scheme for employers, 

that grows their awareness of disability employment and supports and enables 

implementation of best practice in disability employment. The Department will be aware of 

the council’s work around Inclusive Growth and the Belfast Business Promise (See 

https://www.belfastcity.gov.uk/businesspromise and 

https://www.belfastcity.gov.uk/Documents/Our-commitment-to-Inclusive-Growth-2020-

2022#2.%20Our%20inclusive%20growth%20statement for further information).  

 Belfast City Council’s commitment to Inclusive Growth includes reference to disability 

employment practice for residents, our inclusive recruitment and opportunity, mainstreaming 

of equality, diversity and inclusion, engaging and building capacity within our neighbourhoods 

via the council’s Community Outreach Programme, extensive employability support to 

educational establishments, disability organisations, criminal justice organisations and other 

community-based organisations; and prioritising employability and skills. 

 The Belfast Business Promise includes a pledge to recruit inclusively, whilst larger 

organisations of more than 250 staff are tasked with routinely monitoring the diversity of their 

workforce and acting if there are issues. This includes monitoring their workforce’s age, 

disability status, race, gender, and sexual orientation. In December 2025, Belfast City 

Council, the Equality Commission and the Northern Ireland Union for Supported Employment 

(NIUSE) delivered a conference focusing on practical ways to support disabled people at 

work and support employers.  Employers, disability organisations and equality specialists 

attended to learn about workplace adjustments, disability support organisations, and 

practical examples of what works.  

 The Belfast Health & Work Steering Group’s work was established by Belfast City Council 

through the Labour Market Partnership to develop a strategic response to the pressing and 

persistent issue of economic inactivity in Northern Ireland.  Considering transition from the 

European Social Fund (ESF) to the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (SPF) a process marked by 

uncertainty, fragmentation, and disruption, the Steering Group sought to inform the design of 

successor funding models and advocate for more integrated, co-designed, and place-based 

delivery systems.  In the Bridging Health and Work Report produced on behalf of Belfast 

Health and Work Steering Group (August 2025), a twin-track approach was adopted to 

address the immediate challenge of designing a successor to UKSPF post-2026 and propose 

a long-term system reform to integrate health, employment, and community services in a 

person-centred model.  The report concurs that siloed systems, narrow eligibility criteria, and 

short-term commissioning cycles have undermined impact across Northern Ireland. The 

report called for structural reform that: brings together health, skills, employment, and 

community services; fosters employer engagement and inclusive recruitment; and leverages 

community trust and local delivery infrastructure.  

 The report emphasises greater engagement with employers, recommending that employers 

should be supported with training, guidance, and incentives to adopt inclusive practices such 

as flexible working, reasonable adjustments, and mental health-friendly policies. The report 

recommends that all services must embed trauma-informed, person-centred practice—

particularly for those affected by conflict-related trauma, addiction, or adverse childhood 

experiences—ensuring interventions are strengths-based and client-led. 

 

The Disability and Work Council - Functions 

Page 41

https://www.belfastcity.gov.uk/businesspromise
https://www.belfastcity.gov.uk/Documents/Our-commitment-to-Inclusive-Growth-2020-2022#2.%20Our%20inclusive%20growth%20statement
https://www.belfastcity.gov.uk/Documents/Our-commitment-to-Inclusive-Growth-2020-2022#2.%20Our%20inclusive%20growth%20statement


A new Disability and Work Council will be established to support delivery of actions under the 

Strategy and will report annually on progress against the Strategy’s outcomes. 

This Council will provide structures to bring partners together to co-ordinate, drive, support 

and monitor delivery. It will also provide a Forum for stakeholders to discuss disability and 

work issues, and better inform our approach, as well as enhancing engagement with 

stakeholders and disabled people. 

 

9a. To what extent do you agree with the creation of a new Disability and Work Council, 

and its proposed functions? 

 Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Disagree Strongly disagree 

 

9b. Please provide us with any comments you have on the new Disability and Work 

Council, and its proposed functions. 

The Council welcomes the development of the Disability and Work Council to provide oversight 

of the strategy and in particular the inclusion of local councils and reference to Labour Market 

Partnerships. 

Disability and Work Council – Partnership Working 

The proposed Disability and Work Council will be jointly led by a senior civil servant from the 

Department for Communities and a disabled person.  It is proposed that across the structures 

of the Council, the following organisations will work in partnership to support the work of the 

Council: 

 The Department for Communities 

 The Department for the Economy 

 The Department of Education 

 The Department of Health 

 Relevant public bodies (such as the Equality Commission) 

 Local Councils 

 Disabled people 

 Organisations from the disability sector and wider voluntary and community sector 

 Employers and their representative bodies 

 Experts from academia and the research community 

 

10a. To what extent do you agree with the proposed representation across the Disability 

and Work Council structures? 

 Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Disagree Strongly disagree 

 

10b. Please provide us with any comments you have on the new Disability and Work 

Council, and its proposed membership. 

The council welcomes the development of the Disability and Work Council to provide oversight 

of the strategy (Figure 22: The Disability and Work Council P.89).  We welcome the inclusion of 

local councils.  We note there are three separate groups (Delivery Group, Operational Issues 

Forum and an Engagement Forum) feeding into oversight.  We note there are nine groupings 

Page 42



including five Government Departments, Enterprise Agencies, Labour Market Partnerships and 

Employers and Employer Bodies and Disability Sector.  We recommend that structures are 

streamlined to aid management and ensure actions are delivered and momentum is built and 

maintained. 

 

11. If you have any other comments on the Strategy, please enter them in the box 

below: 

To maximise employer engagement, we recommend that a target is set to reach employers in 

various sectors to increase support to help disabled people into work. The strategy would benefit 

from having reference links to the various employment programmes to aid understanding of the 

overall offer, both to employers and people with disabilities.  Examples include JobStart 

Specialist Pathways, Additional Support Fund, Regional Day Opportunities Model, Workable NI, 

Access to Work NI, and the Condition Management Programme.  We recommend that other 

supports are integrated to the offer, including the Work Experience Programme and Make the 

Call. 

 

We note this consultation is taking place while there are severe funding cuts to disability 

specialist organisations supported through the UK Shared Prosperity Fund. Cuts will have a 

major impact on delivery of the Strategy; on disabled people, organisations and staff that deliver 

much needed employment services. 

The council would conclude by reiterating that evidence from the 2024 Labour Force Survey 

Local Government District (LGD) tables highlights imbalance across the region and identifies 

that the greatest need is within Belfast. The employment rate for disabled people ranges from a 

high of 59.7% in Ards and North Down to a low of 33.4% in Belfast. We therefore recommend 

that the Department consider implementing a sub-regional balance approach, tailoring and 

prioritising actions where the greatest inequalities exist.  

 

Please note that this response is still subject to council ratification. It will be presented to 

members of the City Growth & Regeneration on Wednesday 14 January before being presented 

to full council on 02 February.  Officers will contact disabilityemploymentstrategy@communities-

ni.gov.uk at this time should there be any changes.  

Page 43

mailto:disabilityemploymentstrategy@communities-ni.gov.uk
mailto:disabilityemploymentstrategy@communities-ni.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
1 
 

Zoo Long-Term Financial Sustainability Group 
 

Wednesday, 10th December, 2025 
 

 
MEETING OF THE ZOO LONG-TERM FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY GROUP 

 
 Members present:  Councillor Murphy (Chairperson); and 
   Councillors Anglin, Brennan, Flynn, R. McLaughlin, 
   Nelson and Whyte. 
 

 Also attended:  Alderman McCullough. 
  

 In attendance:  Mr. D. Martin, Strategic Director of Place and Economy; 
   Mr. K. Forster, Director of Economic Development; 
   Ms. S. Grimes, Director of Property and Projects; 
   Mrs. C. Reynolds, Director of City Regeneration 
     and Development; 
   Mr. F. Grant, Operations Development Manager; 
   Mr. D. Orr, Departmental Business Manager; and 

Mr. C. Mealey, Committee Services Officer. 
 
 
 

Apologies 
 
 An apology was reported on behalf of Councillor Doran. 
 

Declarations of Interest 
 
 There were no declarations of interest reported.  
 

Election of Chairperson 
 

 Moved by Councillor Anglin, 
 Seconded by Councillor Nelson, and 
 

 Resolved – That Councillor Murphy be elected to serve as Chairperson for 
the Zoo Long-Term Financial Sustainability Group until the date of the Annual 
Council Meeting in 2026. 

 

Draft Terms of Reference 
 

 The Strategic Director for Place and Economy submitted a copy of the draft Terms of 
Reference which outlined that the purpose of the Group was to examine options in relation to 
the long-term financial sustainability of the zoo and complementary assets. The Terms of 
Reference also outlined the Group’s membership and proposed governance arrangements.  
 
 During discussion, Members highlighted the need for the purpose of the Group to 
incorporate a focus on not only the Zoo and the old Zoo site, but also Belfast Castle. 
 
 The Strategic Director advised the Group that a final Terms of Reference would be 
submitted to its next meeting for consideration. 
 

Noted. 

Page 45

Agenda Item 6b



 
 
2 
 

 

Overview of Current Position / Scope of Work 
 
 The Group was presented with an overview of the Zoo’s current position which included 
information on visitor numbers, education programmes, commercial packages, on-site 
services, animal collection, animal welfare, financial position and the operational and strategic 
challenges. 
 
 The Strategic Director of Place and Economy outlined the proposed scope of work. 
The Group was advised that the scope of work would involve a phased approach which would 
initially look at a detailed analysis of the current position; a review of previous visioning work; 
consideration of related plans and strategies; short-term measures and options; research and 
benchmarking; and planning and resourcing going forward. 
 
 During discussion, the officers answered a range of questions from the Members in 
relation to the Zoo’s financial position and modelling, benchmarking, resourcing, visitor 
numbers, animal care and welfare, conservation, and the scope of work.  
 
 After discussion, the Group noted the information that had been provided, and that 
further information would be provided at the next meeting of the Group in respect of the issues 
highlighted by Members and the initial phase of work.  
 
 
 
 

Chairperson 
 

Page 46


	Agenda
	2a Future City Centre Vacancy Programme
	Appendix A - Local, Regional and National Vacancy Initiatives

	2b Local Growth Fund Update
	3a Belfast One BID
	4a Department for Infrastructure Correspondence - Belfast Cycle Network Ravenhill Road Scheme
	Appendix 1 – DfI Response – BCN Ravenhill Road Scheme

	6a Department for Communities Consultation on Disability and Work: A Strategy for Northern Ireland - Council Response
	Appendix 1 - DfC Disability and Work Strategy Consultation - Draft Council Response

	6b Minutes of the Zoo Long-Term Financial Sustainability Group - 10th December 2025

